IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY	ROBINSON,	:			
	Petitioner,	:			
v.		:	CASE	NO.	96,481
STATE	OF FLORIDA,	:			
	Respondent.	:			
		/			

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT FRIEDMAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 500674 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's Administrative Order dated July 13, 1998, this brief has been printed in Courier New (12 point) proportionately spaced.

The Petitioner was the defendant in the circuit court, Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Duval County and the appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. The Respondent was the prosecution in circuit court and the appellee in the District Court.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. References to the record on appeal shall be by the letter "R" followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Larry Robinson, was charged by information with unarmed robbery (concealed identity) in violation of Sections

- 1 -

812.13(2)(c) and 775.0845, Florida Statutes (1995). The date of the offense alleged in the information was April 10, 1997. (R 11) On August 28, 1997, pursuant to a plea agreement, Petitioner entered a plea of guilty to unarmed robbery, a second-degree felony, in exchange for a 25-year mandatory minimum sentence as a violent career criminal. On September 15, 1997, Petitioner was sentenced in accordance with his plea agreement. (R 13-14, 16-22, 26-45) Petitioner did not file a direct appeal of his judgment and sentence.

On June 17, 1998, Petitioner filed a Rule 3.850 motion for post-conviction relief challenging the constitutionality of the violent career criminal statute. (R 1-6) The trial court entered a written order denying relief. (R 7-10) The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion for post-conviction relief but certified conflict with the Second District's decision in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review granted</u>, 717 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1998). <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1960 (Fla. 1st DCA August 17, 1999).

Notice of intent to seek discretionary review was filed by Petitioner on September 7, 1999. On September 22, 1999, this Court issued an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule. On the same date, this Court granted Petitioner's motion for appointment of counsel and appointed the Office of the Public Defender, Second Judicial Circuit as counsel for the Petitioner. This merits brief follows.

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The violent career criminal provisions under which Petitioner was sentenced are invalid because the session law that created them violates the state constitutional single subject Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida addresses requirement. two distinct and unrelated subjects: career criminal sentencing and remedies for the protection of victims of civil domestic violence. Since these two subjects are not reasonably related, Chapter 95-182 addresses more than one subject and thus is invalid.

The enactment of Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida did not affect the window period for challenging Chapter 95-182 because Chapter 96-388 did not reenact Chapter 95-182 and Chapter 96-388 also violates Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

PETITIONER'S SENTENCE AS A VIOLENT CAREER CRIMINAL IS ILLEGAL WHERE THE VIOLENT CAREER CRIMINAL STATUTE WAS ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Pursuant to a plea agreement, the trial court sentenced Petitioner as a violent career criminal to a 25-year mandatory minimum term in the Department of Corrections. The robbery offense was alleged to have occurred on April 10, 1997. (R 11, 13-14, 16-22)¹ As the offense occurred between October 1, 1995 and May 24, 1997, the imposition of the sentence as a violent career criminal pursuant to Section 775.084(4)(c)2 is illegal where the statute violates the single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Thompson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), <u>review granted</u>, 717 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1998).

Preliminarily, this Court the merits of may reach Petitioner's claim despite lack of objection below. the an facial Petitioner challenges the constitutionality of the statute. A challenge to the facial constitutionality of a statute which results in fundamental error may be raised for the first time on appeal. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982). In State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993), this Court determined as a matter of fundamental error that the amendments to the Habitual Offender Act violated the single subject rule. The statute resulted in a far longer sentence than the defendant would have otherwise had to serve under the guidelines. This Court held that the provision involved the defendant's "fundamental liberty due process interests." 616 So.2d at 3. See also, State v. Mancino, 714 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1998) (a sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional

¹Both parties agreed that Petitioner's offense could not be reclassified as a first-degree felony under Section 775.0845, Florida Statutes (1995) for wearing a mask during the commission of the offense. Petitioner was wearing wrap-around eye glasses and could only be convicted of simple robbery under Section 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), a second-degree felony under Florida law. (R 27-28)

limitations is by definition illegal). Moreover, a trial court cannot impose an illegal sentence even if the sentence is pursuant to a valid plea agreement. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1986), <u>receded from on other grounds</u>, <u>Ouaterman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 527 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1988); <u>Shelton v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1877 (Fla. 4th DCA August 11, 1999); <u>Cheney v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); <u>Dyer v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 285 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 543 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The violent career criminal provision, like the habitual offender provision, affects Petitioner's fundamental liberty due process interests. Thus, the facial constitutionality of the violent career criminal statute is reviewable by this Court as a matter of fundamental error.

As to the merits, this Court should set aside Petitioner's violent career criminal sentence and afford Petitioner an opportunity to withdraw his plea.

In <u>Thompson</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal examined the bill and reviewed the legislative history which culminated in enactment of the violent career criminal provision as part of Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida. A combination of criminal and civil subjects were contained within the law. The <u>Thompson</u> court correctly concluded that the law violates the single subject rule because it joins unrelated criminal and civil provisions. The Second District concluded:

> Harsh sentencing for violent career criminals and providing remedies for victims of domestic violence, however laudable, are

> > - 5 -

nonetheless two distinct subjects. The joinder of these two subjects in one act violate Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution; thus, we hold that Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida is unconstitutional. 708 So.2d at 317.

The <u>Thompson</u> court determined that the window period to challenge the constitutionality of the statute began on October 1, 1995, the effective date of Chapter 95-182 and closed on May 24, 1997, the date of the reenactment of the 1995 amendments as part of the biennial adoption of the Florida Statutes. 708 So.2d 317 note 1. In <u>Salters v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1116 (Fla. 4th DCA May 5, 1999), the Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed with the <u>Thompson</u> court as to the parameters of the window period. The Fourth District incorrectly concluded that the window closed on October 1, 1996, the effective date of Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida.

Section 44 of Chapter 96-388 contains an amended version of the career criminal statute. It is not a biennial adoption of the Florida Statutes. For the reasons that follow, like Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida, Chapter 96-388 violates the single subject rule as set forth in Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution.

Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution includes a limitation on a passage of new legislation in Florida which is commonly called "the one subject rule": <u>Laws</u> - Every law shall embrace the one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title... "The purpose of the requirement that each law embrace only one subject and matter properly connected with it is to prevent subterfuge, surprise, hodgepodge and log-rolling in legislation." <u>Santos v. State</u>, 380 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1980); <u>see also</u>, <u>Brown v.</u> <u>Firestone</u>, 382 So.2d 654, 663 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Where legislation fails the Article III, Section 6 one subject rule the courts must strike it down.

In the analysis of what constitutes one subject, this Court has held that "Wide latitude must be afforded the Legislature in the enactment of laws, and this Court will strike down a statute only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject which is briefly expressed in the title." <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d at 282. A bill's subject may be broad as long as there is a "natural, logical connection" among the matters contained within. Id.

But the "wide latitude" standard does not place legislation beyond review. Courts must balance a deference due to legislative branch with the duty to protect the state constitution and proper governmental process. There are, therefore, definite limits to how broad a scenario the legislature may envision when passing multiple matters and subjects under the title and vote of one bill. For example, in <u>Colonial Investments Co. v. Nolan</u>, 131 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1930), provisions requiring a sworn tax return and a provision prohibiting deed recorded without the stating of

- 7 -

the grantor's address were held to be independent and unrelated to satisfy the constitutional requirement. Similarly, the prohibition of the manufacture and trafficking of liquor and a provision criminalizing voluntary intoxication failed the one subject rule. <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 89 So. 360 (Fla. 1921).

Chapter 82-150, Laws of Florida, is another example of a law which violated the single subject rule. It contained four subsections, which can be summarized as follows:

1. Created the new crime of "prohibiting the obstruction of justice by false information."

2. Challenge membership rules for the Florida Council on Criminal Justice.

3. Repealed certain sections of the Florida Council on Criminal Justice.

4. Provide an effective date for the bill.

This legislation was found violative of the one subject rule. The Fifth District in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) explained:

> The bill in question in this case is not a comprehensive law or code type of statute. It is very simply a law that contains two different subjects or matters. One section creates a new crime and the other section amends the operation and membership of the Florida Criminal Justice Council. The general object of both may be to improve the criminal justice system, but that does not make them both related to the same subject matter.

459 So.2d at 320.

In <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), this Court agreed:

We recognize the applicability of the rule

that legislative acts are presumed to be constitutional and that courts should resolve reasonable doubt in favor every of constitutionality. Nevertheless, it is our view that the subject of Section 1 has no relationship with the subject cogent of Sections 2 and 3 and that the object of Section 1 is separate and disassociated from the object of Sections 2 and 3. We hold that Section 1 of 82-150 was enacted in violation of the one subject provision of Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution. [Citations omitted].

453 So.2d at 809.

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So.2d 1, 4 (1993), this Court held that Chapter 89-280, Laws of Florida, violated the single subject requirement because it addressed two unrelated subjects: "The habitual offender statute, and ...the licensing of private investigators and their authority to repossess personal property." This Court adopted the District Court's analysis of Chapter 89-280:

> The title of the active issue designates it an act relating to criminal law and procedure. The first three sections of the Act amend Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, pertaining to habitual felony offenders; Florida Section 775.0842, Statutes, pertaining to policies for career criminal cases. Sections 4 through 11 of the Act Chapter 493 pertain to the provisions governing private investigation and patrol services, specifically, repossession of motor vehicles and motor boats. Id.

This Court also agreed with the District Court that "it is difficult to discern a logical or natural connection between career criminal sentencing and repossession of motor vehicle by private investigators." <u>Id</u>. (Citation in internal quotes

- 9 -

omitted). This Court found these to be "two very separate and distinct subjects" which have "absolutely no cogent connection and were not reasonably related to any crisis the Legislature intended to address." <u>Id</u>. The Court rejected the state's contention that these two subjects relate to the single subject of controlling crime.

<u>Johnson</u>, like <u>Bunnell</u>, was a unanimous decision. As Justice Grimes noted in his concurring opinion:

> In Jamison v. State, 583 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 591 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1991), and <u>McCall v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), the court relied upon Court's decision in <u>Burch</u> (citation this omitted), in concluding that Chapter 89-280 did not violate the single subject rule. As the author of the <u>Burch</u> opinion, I find that case to be substantially different. The Burch legislation was upheld because it was a comprehensive law in which all of the parts were at least arguable related to its overall objective of crime control. Here, however, Chapter 89-280 directed only to two is habitual offenders subjects _ and repossession of motor vehicles and motor boats - which have no relationship to each other whatsoever. Thus, I conclude that this is controlled by the principal of case Bunnell (citation omitted) rather than Burch. 616 So.2d at 5 (Grimes, J., concurring).

These cases establish the following principals: provisions in the statute will be considered as covering a single subject if they have a cogent, logical, or natural connection or relation to each other. The legislature will be given some latitude to enact a broad statute, provided that statute is intended to be a comprehensive approach to a complex and difficult problem that is currently troubling a large portion of the citizenry. However, separate subjects cannot be artificially connected by the use of broad labels like "the criminal justice system" or "crime control."

Based upon these principles, Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida, is unconstitutional. It is loosely titled, "Public Safety." Its seventy four sections run the gamut from implementing a continuous revision cycle for the criminal code, coordinating information systems resources, enacting the "Street Gang Prevention Act of 1996," enacting the "Jimmy Ryce Act," relating to sexual predators as well as redefining various crimes and attendant punishments. The seventy four sections of Chapter 96-388 may be briefly summarized as follows:

> <u>Section 1</u> -- creates a new Section 775.0121, which requires the legislature to revise and update the Florida criminal statutes on a regular basis.

> <u>Section 2</u> -- amends Section 187.201, which deals with the "State Comprehensive Plan" for the criminal justice system.

<u>Section 3</u> -- amends Section 943.06 regarding the membership of the "Criminal and Juvenile Justice Information Systems Council."

<u>Sections 4-16</u> -- amends and creates several statutes dealing with the membership and the duties of the "Criminal and Juvenile Justice Information Systems Council" and its relation to other government organizations.

<u>Section 17-21</u> -- amends several statutes regarding juvenile criminal history records.

<u>Section 22</u> -- amends the statutory provisions regarding the preparation of sentencing guidelines scoresheets.

<u>Section 23</u> -- repeals Section 6 of Chapter

94-209, Laws of Florida, which had imposed duties on the Juvenile Justice Advisory Board.

<u>Section 24</u> -- requires the "Justice Administrative Commission [to] report to the Legislature no later than January 1, 1997, itemizing and explaining each of its duties and functions."

<u>Section 25</u> -- amends Section 27.34(4) by eliminating the provision that allowed the Insurance Commissioner to contract with the "Justice Administrative Commission for the prosecution of criminal violations of the Workers' Compensation Law"

<u>Section 26</u> -- repeals Section 27.37, which had created the "Council on Organized Crime" and detailed its membership and duties.

Section 27 -- repeals Sections 282.501 and .502, which had directed the Department of Education to establish the "Risk Assessment Coordinating Council", which was to "develop a population-at-risk profile for purposes of identifying at an early age, and tracking for statistical purposes, persons who are probable candidates for entering into the criminal justice system so as to develop education and human resources to direct such persons away from criminal activities", and providing for membership and duties of this council.

<u>Section 28</u> -- repeals Sections 648.25(2), .265, and .266, which had established the "Bail Bond Advisory Council", which was to monitor and make recommendations regarding pre-trial release procedures.

<u>Section 29</u> -- amends Sections 648.26(1) and (4) to eliminate the Bail Bond Advisory Council from the regulatory process over bail bond agents.

<u>Section 30</u> -- repeals the "Florida Drug Punishment Act of 1990", which had attempted to identify offenders whose criminal activity was the result of drug problems and divert those offenders into treatment programs. <u>Section 31</u> -- repeals Section 827.05, which had created the offense of "negligent treatment of children."

<u>Section 32</u> -- repeals Section 943.031(6), which had provided for automatic repeal of Section 943.031, which in turn created, provided for membership, and imposed duties upon, the "Florida Violent Crime Council."

<u>Sections 33-43</u> -- amends Sections 39.053, 893.138, 895.02, and Chapter 874 regarding the prosecution of offenders who are members of a "Criminal Street Gang", including new definitions, the creation of new offenses, and provisions for punishment and forfeiture.

<u>Sections 44-46</u> -- amends the habitualization sentencing statutes in minor ways.

<u>Sections 47-48</u> -- amends the definitions of burglary and trespass.

<u>Section 49</u> -- amends the definition of theft.

<u>Sections 50-53</u> -- amends the sentencing guidelines in minor ways.

<u>Section 54</u> -- significantly amends Section 893.135(1), regarding the offense of trafficking in controlled substances.

<u>Sections 55-59</u> -- amends various statutes regarding enhanced offenses and a defendant's eligibility for gain-time or early release.

<u>Sections 60-67</u> -- creates the "Jimmy Ryce Act", which significantly amends the Florida Sexual Predators Act and establishes provisions regarding the release of public records regarding missing children.

<u>Section 68</u> -- creates Section 943.15(3), which requires "the Florida Sheriffs Associaand the Florida Police Chiefs tion [to] Association develop protocols establishing when injured apprehendees will be placed under arrest and how security will be provided during any hospitalization [and] address[ing] the cost to hospitals of providing unreimbursed medical services "

<u>Section 69</u> -- amends Section 16.56 to give the statewide prosecutor jurisdiction over violations of "s. 847.0135, relating to computer pornography and child exploitation prevention"

<u>Sections 70-71</u> -- amends definitions and creates new offenses regarding computer pornography.

<u>Section 72</u> -- amends Section 776.085 regarding the provision of a civil damages action against perpetrators of forcible felonies.

<u>Sections 73-74</u> -- provides for an effective date.

Chapter 96-388 thus encompasses a multitude of unrelated subjects that have separate and disassociated objectives. It is the variegated nature of the subject matters of the Act which preclude the title from complying with the constitutional mandate that its subject be briefly expressed in the title.

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