IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY ROBINSON,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 96,481

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts that his violent career sentence Specifically, petitioner contends that both unconstitutional. chapter laws associated with the violent career criminal statute, the original Gort Act, which created the violent career criminal statute, chapter 95-182, and the amended version, chapter 96-388, violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. Art. III, § 6, FLA. CONST. The State respectfully disagrees. First, petitioner does not have standing to challenge both the original and the amended versions of the Gort Act. Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the original Gort Act, chapter 95-182, because he was sentenced pursuant to the amended version of the statute, chapter 96-388. Therefore, he only has standing to challenge the amended version, chapter 96-388. Furthermore, chapter 96-388 does not violate the single subject provision. All of the sections relate to the single subject of public safety from criminal activity. Thus, chapter 96-388 does not violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ISSUE I

DOES THE ORIGINAL GORT ACT, CHAPTER 95-182, AND THE AMENDED VERSION OF THE VIOLENT CAREER CRIMINAL STATUTE, CHAPTER 96-388, VIOLATE THE SINGLE SUBJECT PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION? (Restated)

asserts that his violent Petitioner career sentence unconstitutional. Specifically, petitioner contends that both chapter laws associated with the violent career criminal statute, the original Gort Act, which created the violent career criminal statute, chapter 95-182, and the amended version, chapter 96-388, violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. Art. III, § 6, FLA. CONST. The State respectfully disagrees. First, petitioner does not have standing to challenge both the original and the amended versions of the Gort Act. Petitioner lacks standing to challenge the original Gort Act, chapter 95-182, because he was sentenced pursuant to the amended version of the Therefore, he only has standing to statute, chapter 96-388. challenge the amended version, chapter 96-388. Furthermore, chapter 96-388 does not violate the single subject provision. All of the sections relate to the single subject of public safety from criminal activity. Thus, chapter 96-388 does not violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution.

The presumption of constitutionality

Legislative acts are strongly presumed constitutional. See State v. Kinner, 398 So.2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of

a statute. Florida Leaque of Cities, Inc. v. Administration Com'n, 586 So.2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. Todd v. State, 643 So.2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Single subject challenges like all constitutional challenges are governed by these principles. Cf. State v. Physical Therapy Rehabilitation Center of Coral Springs, Inc., 665 So.2d 1127, 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)(noting, in the context of a constitutional challenge to a statute alleging a defective title, a presumption exists in favor of the validity of the statute).

The standard of review

A standard of review is deference that an appellate court pays to the trial court's ruling. Martha S. Davis, *A Basic Guide to Standards of Judicial Review*, 33 S.D. L. REV. 468 (1988). There are three main standards of review: *de novo*, abuse of discretion and competent substantial evidence test. Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 9.1 (2d ed. 1997).

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. See <u>United States v. Cardoza</u>, 129 F.3d 6, 10 (1st Cir. 1997); <u>United States v. Bailey</u>, 115 F.3d 1222, 1225 (5th Cir. 1997); <u>United States v. Wilson</u>, 73 F.3d 675, 678 (7th Cir.1995); <u>United States v. Crawford</u>, 115 F.3d 1397, 1400 (8th Cir. 1997); <u>United States v. Michael R.</u>, 90 F.3d 340, 343 (9th Cir. 1996). An appellate court reviews the constitutionality of all

statutes, including sentencing statutes, de novo. <u>United States v.</u>
<u>Ouinn</u>, 123 F.3d 1415, 1425 (11th Cir. 1997).

Under the de novo standard of review, the appellate court pays no deference to the trial court's ruling; rather, the appellate court makes its own determination of the legal issue. Elder v. Holloway, 984 F.2d 991 (9th Cir. 1993) (Kozinski, J., dissenting from the denial of a suggestion for rehearing en banc), adopted by Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 516, 114 S.Ct. 1019, 1023, 127 L.Ed.2d 344 (1994)(holding the issue is a question of law, not one of "legal facts", which is reviewed de novo on appeal). appellate court freely considers the matter anew as if no decision had been rendered below under the de novo standard of review. reason for de novo review of legal questions is obvious enough: appellate courts are in a better position than trial courts to resolve legal questions because appellate courts are not encumbered by the "vital, but time-consuming, process of hearing evidence". Moreover, appellate courts see many legal issues repeatedly giving them a greater familiarity with these issues. Additionally, appellate courts have the advantage of sitting in panels where they can deliberate about legal issues which allows the appellate judges to discuss issues with each other issues which the trial court must Indeed, an appellate court's principal mission is decide alone. resolving questions of law and to refine, clarify and develop legal doctrines. Elder v. Holloway, 984 F.2d 991 (9th 1993)(Kozinski, J., dissenting from the denial of a suggestion for rehearing en banc), adopted by <u>Elder v. Holloway</u>, 510 U.S. 510,

516, 114 S.Ct. 1019, 1023, 127 L.Ed.2d 344 (1994). Thus, the standard of review is *de novo*.

Standing

The single subject provision applies only to chapter laws; Florida Statutes are not required to conform to the provision. State v. Combs, 388 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1980). Once reenacted as a portion of the Florida Statutes, a chapter law is no longer subject to challenge on the grounds that it violates the single subject provision of Article III, § 6, of the Florida Constitution. State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1993). The reenactment of a statute cures any infirmity or defect. State v. Carswell, 557 So.2d 183, 184 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Honchell v. State, 257 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1972); Alterman Transport Lines, Inc. v. State, 405 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), the Supreme Court held that the re-enactment of the amendment cured the single-subject violation. The Court noted that the "window" period for attacking a chapter law as violative of single-subject provision runs from the effective date of law to the date of reenactment. Defendants who committed their offenses after the enactment date did not have standing to challenge the amendments. However, those defendants who committed their offenses before the date of the reenactment did have standing to challenge the amendments and were entitled to resentencing. <u>Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d at 4.

In Thompson v. State, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), rev. granted, State v. Thompson, 717 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1998), the Second District held that the Gort Act, chapter 95-182, violated the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. The Thompson Court identified the window period for challenging the Gort Act, chapter 95-182, LAWS OF FLORIDA, from October 1, 1995 until May 24, 1997. Thompson, 708 So.2d 315, n.1. According to the Second District, the "window" period opens on the effective date of the law, which was October 1, 1995 and closes on the date the Gort Act was reenacted as part of the Florida Statutes' biennial adoption which was May 24, 1997. Chapter 97-97, LAWS OF FLORIDA. according to the Thompson Court, only those defendants who committed their offenses prior to May 24, 1997 have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the Gort Act on the basis that it violates the single subject provision.

In <u>Salter v. State</u>, 731 So.2d 826 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District identified a different window period. The <u>Salter</u> Court held that a defendant's standing to challenge his violent career criminal sentence ended on October 1, 1996 because the Gort Act was reenacted on that date. Chapter 96-388, Laws of FLORIDA. The Fourth District reasoned that when the legislature reenacted the violent career criminal section as part of chapter 96-388, without the civil provision identified in <u>Thompson</u> as the single subject violation, the legislature cured the single subject violation. ² In

² In <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), rev. granted, <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 717 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1998), the Second

short, the passage of chapter 96-388 without the objectionable civil provisions addressing domestic violence injunctions cured the single subject violation found in chapter 95-182. The Fourth District in <u>Salter</u> certified conflict with Second District's decision in <u>Thompson</u> regarding the appropriate dates for the window.³

There is no dispute regarding the date the "window" period opens which is the effective date of the Gort Act, October 1, 1995. However, contrary to the <u>Thompson</u> Court's reasoning, the window to challenge chapter 95-182 closed not on May 24, 1997 but approximately one year earlier on October 1, 1996. While the Gort Act was reenacted in 1997 as part of the Florida Statutes' biennial

District held that the Gort Act violated the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. The Thompson Court noted that sections one through seven of the chapter create and define violent career criminal sentencing whereas section eight through ten deal with civil remedies for domestic violence. recited a brief legislative history of the Gort Act noting that sections eight through ten began as three house bills which died in When the three house bills were engrafted on to the original Senate bill creating violent career criminal sentencing, the three house bills became law. The Court stated: "[i]t is in circumstances such as these that problems with the single subject rule are most likely to occur". Furthermore, the Thompson Court reasoned that the two parts have no natural or logical connection because the Gort Act embraces both criminal and civil provisions. The Court analogized the Gort Act to the cases of State v. Johnson, 616 so.2d 1 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1984). The Court also expressed concern that nothing in sections two through seven addresses domestic violence and nothing in sections eight through ten addresses career criminals.

³ Salter is pending in this Court in case no. 95,663.

adoption, it was also reenacted earlier in 1996. Chapter 96-388, LAWS OF FLORIDA. This earlier reenactment, while not part of the biennial adoption, was an equivalent legislative action which closed the window for the exact same reasons the biennial adoption normally closes the window.

In <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that a chapter law that consisted of two separate subjects, i.e., workers' compensation and international trade, violated the single subject requirement. However, prior to the Court's decision, the legislature separated the international trade and workers' compensation provisions into two distinct bills and reenacted them both. This Court held that this action by the legislature "clearly cured" the single subject objection.

Thus, the legislature can cure a single subject violation in a number of ways. The legislature can cure a single subject violation by biennial adoption or by breaking the two subjects into two separate bills and passing the as two separate chapter laws or, as in this case, by reenacted the substance of the statute without the offending disparate subject in a later chapter law.

The purpose of the single subject provision in the constitution is to prevent "logrolling". Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So.2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991); State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). Logrolling is where separate issues are rolled into a single initiative in order to aggregate votes or secure approval of an otherwise unpopular issue. In re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General—Save Our Everglades, 636 So.2d 1336, 1339 (Fla. 1994).

Logrolling results in the passage of an unpopular issue simply because it is paired with a widely popular issue. Advisory Opinion to the Attorney Gen. re Fish & Wildlife Conservation Comm'n, 705 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1998). The purposes of the provision is to prevent unpopular free riders becoming law. The provision obviously is <u>not</u> designed to prevent the passage of popular If a Court could determine which of the issues was in measures. free rider, only the free rider should be held unconstitutional. However, courts invalidate the entire chapter because normally they cannot determine which is the popular measure and which is the free rider. Cf. Fine v. Firestone, 448 So.2d 984, 990 (Fla. 1984)(holding that the severability clause did not cure the violation of single subject requirement).

If two issues were originally enacted together, but later one of the issues is reenacted separately, the issue that was separately enacted cannot be said to have passed due to logrolling. It passed on its own, not because it was associated with a more popular measure. Specifically, if the Gort Act and domestic violence measure were enacted together in chapter 95-182 but subsequently the Gort Act was enacted separately without the domestic violence measures in chapter 96-388, then the Gort Act did not pass because it was associated with the domestic violence measures. While the validity of the domestic violence measures is still subject to single subject challenge on the basis of logrolling, the Gort Act is not properly challenged on the basis of logrolling. The Gort Act passed regardless of any logrolling associated with passage of

chapter 95-182. Basically, such a scenario proves either there was no logrolling in the original chapter or that the Gort Act was the popular measure, not the unpopular one.

Thus, as the Fourth District held in <u>Salter</u>, the window period closed on October 1, 1996 when the legislature reenacted the Gort Act. Chapter 96-388, Laws of Florida; Chapter 97-97, Laws of Florida. Petitioner committed his offenses on April 10, 1997, after October 1, 1996, the effective date of chapter 96-388. His offense was committed after the window closed to challenge 95-182 but before the window closed to raise a single subject challenge to chapter 96-388. Therefore, petitioner only has standing to challenge Chapter 96-388, not Chapter 95-182. He may challenge the amended version of the Gort Act but not the original version of the Gort Act.

<u>Merits</u>

The single subject provision, Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides:

"Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title."

The State adopts its brief in <u>Thompson</u>, case no. 92,831, regarding the single subject challenge to chapter 95-182 if this Court rejects this standing argument. Oral argument were held November 1998 and supplemental briefs addressing the window period issue were filed in August 1999 in the <u>Thompson</u> case. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), rev. granted, <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 717 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1998).

However, an act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection. Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981); Board of Pub. Instruction v. Doran, 224 So.2d 693, 699 (Fla. 1969). Broad and comprehensive legislative enactments are not in violation of the single subject provision. See Smith v. Department of Ins., 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987). Moreover, the single subject requirement is satisfied if a "reasonable explanation exists as to why the legislature chose to join the two subjects within the same legislative act. Johnson v. State, 616 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1993). The test to determine whether legislation meets the single subject provision is based on common sense. Smith, 507 So.2d at 1087.

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